IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TIM WILSON, P.E., NEVADA STATE ENGINEER, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES,

Electronically Filed May 01 2019 10:34 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

Case No. 77651

vs.

RODNEY ST. CLAIR,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD
Attorney General
JAMES N. BOLOTIN
Senior Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 13829
State of Nevada
Office of the Attorney General
100 North Carson Street
Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717
T: (775) 684-1231

E: jbolotin@ag.nv.gov Attorney for Appellant

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the final order of the Sixth Judicial District Court granting Respondent Rodney St. Clair's (hereafter "St. Clair") Motion for Attorneys' Fees in the amount of \$50,025. The final order was filed on November 26, 2018, with St. Clair serving the Notice of Entry of Order on November 29, 2018. Joint Appendix ("JA") Vol. V at 1094–1109. Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 3A(a), NRAP 3A(b)(1), NRAP 3A(b)(8) and NRS 533.450(9). Appellant, Tim Wilson, P.E., the Acting State Engineer, in his capacity as the Nevada State Engineer, Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, Division of Water Resources (hereafter "State Engineer") timely filed his Notice of Appeal with the district court on December 6, 2018. JA Vol. V at 1110–1111. Accordingly, the State Engineer's appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(8) as this is an administrative agency case involving water and an order of the State Engineer.

///

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the district court erred in granting St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, where the underlying action was a petition for judicial review of a decision of the State Engineer pursuant to NRS 533.450 and NRS 533.450 does not contain any specific language authorizing the award of attorney fees?
- B. If attorney fees are permitted in actions under NRS 533.450,
 whether the district court nonetheless erred in granting
 St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees where:
 - The State Engineer maintained his defense of Ruling
 No. 6287 in good faith and based on his reasonable
 interpretation of the law and facts;
 - 2. St. Clair filed his Motion for Attorneys' Fees more than two (2) years after serving the notice of entry of judgment on the underlying action; and
 - 3. The district court's award of attorneys' fees included fees incurred on appeal at the Nevada Supreme Court?

///

///

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the district court's November 26, 2018, Order granting St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees. Therein, the district court found that the State Engineer, in an action pursued pursuant to NRS 533.450, maintained claims against St. Clair, both at the district court and the Supreme Court, without reasonable grounds such that attorneys' fees were proper pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b) and that St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees was timely notwithstanding Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure ("NRCP") 54(d)(2).

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 25, 2014, the State Engineer issued Ruling No. 6287, declaring Proof of Appropriation V-010493 abandoned, and therefore denying Application No. 83246T as there was no unappropriated water available under the water right associated with Application No. 83246T and that granting a change application based on an abandoned water right would threaten to prove detrimental to the public interest. JA Vol. I at 19–25. On August 21, 2014, St. Clair filed and served his Petition for Judicial Review (hereafter "Petition") and Notice of Appeal, seeking judicial review and ultimately remand of the State Engineer's Ruling

No. 6287 to reverse the finding of abandonment and grant Application No. 83246T. JA Vol. I at 5–10.

After full briefing, the Court held oral arguments on the underlying matter on January 5, 2016. See JA Vol. III at 595. Following arguments from both parties, the Court affirmed the State Engineer's Ruling No. 6287 to the extent he determined that St. Clair had a vested water right under V-010493, but overruled Ruling No. 6287 to the extent he declared V-010493 abandoned and ordered the State Engineer to grant Application No. 83246T. See JA Vol. IV at 800–811. The Court signed the Order on April 22, 2016, and St. Clair filed the Notice of Entry of Order on April 29, 2016. See id.; see also JA Vol. IV at 813–829. The State Engineer appealed this Order on May 23, 2016. JA Vol. IV at 831–832.

On appeal, following a full briefing and oral argument, this Court, in Case No. 70458, issued its Opinion affirming the District Court's Order Overruling State Engineer's Ruling No. 6287 on March 29, 2018. *King v. St. Clair*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 18, 414 P.3d 314 (2018). The Court issued its Remittitur affirming the District Court's Order on April 24, 2018,

which was returned by the District Court clerk and filed with the Nevada Supreme Court on May 4, 2018. JA Vol. IV at 853–854.

On July 2, 2018, St. Clair filed his Notice of Motion and Motion for Attorneys' Fees pursuant NRS 18.010(2)(b), arguing that the State Engineer maintained claims at the district court and the Supreme Court without reasonable ground. See JA Vol. IV at 855–870. On July 16, 2018, the State Engineer filed his Opposition to St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, arguing that St. Clair's Motion was untimely pursuant to NRCP 54(d)(2)(B), that attorneys' fees are not permitted in actions against the State Engineer brought pursuant to NRS 533.450, and that the State Engineer maintained his defense of Ruling No. 6287 and his appeal of the district court's Order in good faith and based on his reasonable interpretation of the law and facts. See JA Vol. IV at 871–884. St. Clair caused to be served his Reply in Support of Motion for Attorneys' Fees on July 20, 2018, along with his Request for Submission. See JA Vol. IV at 885–901.

On October 19, 2018, the district court held oral arguments in Carson City on St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees. JA Vol. IV at 907–908. After hearing arguments, and receiving PowerPoint

presentations from both St. Clair and the State Engineer, the sitting Senior District Court Judge ruled from the bench, granting St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, finding that the State Engineer is subject to attorneys' fees motions, that the State Engineer maintained his defense without reasonable ground at the district court and the Nevada Supreme Court, and that there is no time limit to file an attorneys' fees motion under NRS 18.010(2)(b), and requested a proposed order. JA Vol. IV-V at 909–1076. After conferring with the State Engineer, St. Clair submitted a proposed order on or about November 16, 2018. JA Vol. V at 1080–1095. The district court signed the order, filing it on November 26, 2018, and St. Clair filed its Notice of Entry of Order on December 3, 2018. JA Vol. V at 1096–1111. The State Engineer timely filed his Notice of Appeal with the district court on December 6, 2018, along with his Case Appeal Statement. JA Vol. V at 1112–1136.

Simultaneously with his Notice of Appeal, the State Engineer filed a Motion for Stay of Attorneys' Fees Judgment Pending Appeal, along with an Ex Parte Motion for Order Shortening Time on the Motion for Stay. JA Vol. V at 1137–1143. On December 7, 2018, St. Clair filed his Notice of Non-Opposition to Motion for Stay of Attorneys' Fees Judgment

Pending Appeal. JA Vol. V at 1144–1146. Based on St. Clair's non-opposition, the district court granted the State Engineer's Motion for Stay of Attorneys' Fees Judgment Pending Appeal, filing its Order on December 18, 2018. JA Vol. V at 1147–1150. On December 26, 2018, the State Engineer filed the Notice of Entry of Order Granting Motion for Stay of Attorneys' Fees Judgment Pending Appeal. JA Vol. V at 1151–1158. Therefore, the district court's order at issue in this appeal is stayed during the pendency of this appeal.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The underlying proceedings in this case were brought pursuant to NRS 533.450 as a petition for judicial review of the State Engineer's Ruling No. 6287. Nevada adheres to the American rule regarding attorney fees, meaning that "attorney fees may not be awarded absent a statute, rule, or contract authorizing such award." *Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 91, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006). There is no statute authorizing attorney fees in these types of petition for judicial review proceedings under NRS 533.450, and therefore the district court exceeded its authority and erred by awarding attorneys' fees in this matter.

Additionally, even if attorney fees could be awarded in these types of proceedings, the State Engineer at all times maintained a reasonable basis for the defense of Ruling No. 6287, both before the district court and this Court, such that attorney fees were not warranted pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b). Furthermore, St. Clair's Motion for Attorneys' Fees was untimely by more than two (2) full years, pursuant to the version of NRCP 54(d)(2)(B) in effect at the time, and the district court was not permitted to extend that deadline after the fact. Lastly, the district court lacked authority to award attorneys' fees incurred at the Supreme Court under NRS 18.010(2)(b); therefore, while the State Engineer argues that the entire order should be reversed, the portion attributable to litigation at the Nevada Supreme Court should certainly be overturned.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Ordinarily, Nevada's appellate courts review an award or denial of attorney fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) for an abuse of discretion. *Mack-Manley v. Manley*, 122 Nev. 849, 860, 138 P.3d 525, 533 (2006). However, a district court may not award attorney fees unless authorized by statute, rule or contract. *State*, *Dep't of Human Res.*, *Welfare Div. v.*

Fowler, 109 Nev. 782, 784, 858 P.2d 375, 376 (1993) (citing Nev. Bd. of Osteopathic Med. v. Graham, 98 Nev. 174, 175, 643 P.2d 1222, 1223 (1982)). This case requires the interpretation of NRS 533.450, and issues of statutory interpretation are questions of law reviewed de novo. Zenor v. State, Dep't of Transp., 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d 28, 30 (2018) (citing Albios v. Horizon Cmtys., Inc., 122 Nev. 409, 417, 132 P.3d 1022, 1028 (2006)).

B. Parties Challenging Decisions or Orders of the State Engineer Pursuant to NRS 533.450 Cannot Be Awarded Attorneys' Fees

The water law and all proceedings thereunder are special in character, and the provisions of such law not only lay down the method of procedure but strictly limits it to that provided. *Application of Filippini*, 66 Nev. 17, 27, 202 P.2d 535, 540 (1949). Accordingly, NRS 533.450 provides the exclusive means for challenging an order or decision of the State Engineer, and nowhere in NRS 533.450 is there any provision providing for an award of attorney fees. *See* NRS 533.450. Therefore, parties challenging decisions or orders of the State Engineer, even if successful, are not entitled to an award of attorney fees.

To the best of the State Engineer's knowledge, this Court has never addressed whether attorney fees are permitted in actions brought pursuant to NRS 533.450. However, this Court has addressed attorney fees awards under other portions of NRS Chapter 533 as well as the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act, NRS Chapter 233B. See Rand Props., LLC v. Filippini, 2016 WL 1619306, Docket No. 66933, filed April 21, 2016 (unpublished disposition) (hereafter "Rand"); see also Zenor, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d 28; see also Fowler, 109 Nev. 782, 858 P.2d 375. The analysis performed by this Court in Rand, Zenor and Fowler applies directly to the case, and implores the same result regarding NRS 533.450: attorney fees awards are not authorized.

In reviewing the statutory provision providing for judicial review of decisions of state agencies subject to NRS Chapter 233B, this Court noted that "NRS 233B.130 does not contain any specific language authorizing the award of attorney's fees in actions involving petitions for judicial

¹ While pursuant to NRS 233B.039(j), the State Engineer is expressly excluded from the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act, the Nevada Supreme Court's legal analysis of NRS 233B.130 governing judicial review of an agency decision is applicable to the analysis demonstrating that an award of attorney fees in a petition brought pursuant to NRS 533.450 is not authorized.

review of agency action." Fowler, 109 Nev. at 785, 858 P.2d at 377. The action in Fowler was brought pursuant to NRS Chapters 284 and 233B, and "[b]ecause neither of these chapters authorized an award of attorney's fees" and because NRS 18.010(2)(a) was inapplicable, this Court held that the district court erred in awarding attorney's fees. Id., 109 Nev. at 788, 858 P.2d at 379.

This holding was taken even further in *Zenor*, where this Court held specifically that NRS 233B.130 prohibited attorney fees in petitions for judicial review of agency determinations, including those attorney fees requested pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b). 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d at 30. This Court based its holding on the fact that the Legislature expressly stated that NRS Chapter 233B is "the exclusive means of judicial review of" an agency determination. *Id.* (citing NRS 233B.130(6)). The Court found that it was not the business of the courts "to fill in alleged legislative omissions based on conjecture as to what the legislature would or should have done." *Id.* (citing McKay v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Douglas Cty., 103 Nev. 490, 492, 746 P.2d 124, 125 (1987)).

///

This Court has "repeatedly refused to imply provisions not expressly included in the legislative scheme." *State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Wrenn*, 104 Nev. 536, 539, 762 P.2d 884, 886 (1988). In *Wrenn*, the Court declined to award attorney fees because "the legislature has not expressly authorized an award of attorney's fees in worker's compensation cases. . . . [and] we decline to allow a claimant recovery of attorney's fees in a worker's compensation case absent express statutory authorization." *Id.*

Furthermore, and importantly, in *Rand*, a case dealing with water law, albeit a different statute, this Court declined to award attorney fees under NRS 533.190(1) and NRS 533.240(3). 2016 WL 1619306, Docket No. 66933, filed April 21, 2016, *6 (unpublished disposition). In doing so, this Court reasoned that "[t]hese statutes specifically provide for an award of costs, but under Nevada law, attorney fees are not considered costs." *Id.* (citing Smith v. Crown Fin. Serv. of Am., 111 Nev. 277, 287, 890 P.2d 769, 776 (1995)). Additionally, the Court found that attorney fees were not mentioned anywhere in the statute, and therefore attorney fees could not be sustained under NRS 533.190(1) or NRS 533.240(3). *Id.*

-12-

///

NRS 533.450(1) provides that "any person feeling aggrieved by any order or decision of the State Engineer . . . may have the same reviewed by a proceeding for that purpose, insofar as may be in the nature of an appeal" Further, NRS 533.450(7) provides for the payment of costs, but does not provide for the payment of fees, and even the payment of costs only applies to parties *other than* the State Engineer. NRS 533.450(7) ("Costs must be paid as in civil cases brought in the district court, *except by the State Engineer or the State*." (Emphasis added)).

It is significant that NRS 533.450 does not include a provision for awarding attorney fees, but does include a provision regarding the recovery of costs. Even more significant is that this costs provision specifically exempts the State Engineer and the State. Nowhere in NRS 533.450, let alone elsewhere in Nevada's water law (NRS Chapters 532, 533, 534 and 540), is there any provision authorizing the award of attorney fees against the State Engineer. Where Nevada water law mentions attorney's fees, it either authorizes only the State Engineer to collect attorney's fees or expressly prohibits the use of certain State General Fund accounts for the payment of attorney's fees. For example,

NRS 533.481(2) and NRS 534.193(3) allow the State Engineer to require the payment of attorney's fees where an administrative fine is imposed against a person or the person is ordered to replace any water. On the other hand, NRS 532.200(2) expressly prohibits the use of the Adjudication Emergency Account for the payment of attorney's fees, while NRS 534.360(5) explicitly prohibits the use of funds from the Water Rights Technical Support Account for attorney's fees.

As stated previously, water law and all proceedings thereunder are special in character, and the provisions of such law not only lay down the method of procedure but strictly limits it to that provided. *Application of Filippini*, 66 Nev. at 27, 202 P.2d at 540. Thus, while NRS 533.450 does not include the same specific limiting language of NRS 233B.130(6), NRS 533.450 is in fact the exclusive means of judicial review of orders or decisions of the State Engineer. Therefore, this Court's finding in *Zenor* is directly applicable to the instant case.

In Zenor, the Court found that because NRS Chapter 233B is "the exclusive means of judicial review of" an agency determination, and because it did not provide for attorney fees, attorney fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) were prohibited. 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d at 30.

Here, attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) are similarly barred under NRS 533.450 as the statute does not contain language authorizing attorney's fees and is the exclusive means of judicial review of the State Engineer's decisions.

Likewise, this Court previously reversed an award of attorney fees in *Rand*, a water law case, because "attorney fees are not mentioned anywhere in the statute." 2016 WL 1619306, Docket No. 66933, filed April 21, 2016, *6 (unpublished disposition). This same reasoning supports the reversal of the district court's attorneys' fee award in this case.

Similarly, there is support for the proposition that the Legislature intended to omit attorney fees awards from actions brought under NRS 533.450. This Court "repeatedly refuse[s] to imply provisions not expressly included in the legislative scheme" and "it is not the business of this court to fill in alleged legislative omissions based on the conjecture as to what the legislature would or should have done." *Zenor*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d at 30 (internal citations omitted). The Legislature has enacted statutes authorizing the payment of attorney fees in other certain, and limited, circumstances involving state agencies. For

example, the Legislature authorized the district court to order costs and fees for filing a frivolous petition of hearing officer decisions involving industrial injuries. See NRS 616C.385.

NRS 533.450 specifically provides for an award of costs, but omits NRS 533.450(7). As stated previously, under any mention of fees. Nevada law, attorney fees are not considered costs. See Smith, 111 Nev. at 287, 890 P.2d at 776. Furthermore, even the statute providing for costs, NRS 533.450(7), exempts the State Engineer and the State of Nevada from its provisions. Where the Legislature intended for the State Engineer to be exempt from paying costs, it follows rationally that the Legislature also intended to exempt the State Engineer (or anyone else for that matter) from paying attorney fees by omitting any mention of attorney fees from NRS 533.450. This rationale is strengthened by the fact that the Legislature explicitly authorized and prohibited attorney fees in specific circumstances elsewhere in Nevada's water law. NRS 532.200(2); NRS 533.481(2); NRS 534.193(3); NRS 534.360(5).

Based on the foregoing, the Legislature has not authorized attorney fees in challenges to decisions of the State Engineer brought pursuant to NRS 533.450. Absent any express statutory authorization, attorney fees

in NRS 533.450 actions are prohibited. Therefore, the district court erred in awarding attorneys' fees, and the State Engineer respectfully requests reversal of the district court's order.

C. The State Engineer Reasonably Maintained His Defense of Ruling No. 6287 at Both the District Court and the Nevada Supreme Court

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