Case No. 77651

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TIM WILSON, P.E., NEVADA STATE ENGINEER, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES,

Appellant,

VS.

RODNEY ST. CLAIR,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jun 14 2019 05:14 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

PAUL G. TAGGART, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 6136
TIMOTHY D. O'CONNOR, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 14098
TAGGART & TAGGART, LTD.
108 North Minnesota Street
Carson City, Nevada 89703
(775) 882-9900 – Telephone
(775) 883-9900 – Facsimile
paul@legaltnt.com
tim@legaltnt.com
Attorneys for Respondent Rodney St. Clair

NRAP 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

First, the Legislature chose to exclude the narrow, "exclusive means" language found in NRS 233B.130(6) from NRS 533.450.⁵⁹ For NRS 533.450, the

⁵⁶ Rural Tel. Co. v. Pub. Utils. Comm'n, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 53 at 5, 398 P.3d 909, 911 (2017) (citing Sonia F. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Court, 125 Nev. 495, 499, 215 P.3d 705, 708 (2009)); see Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 170 (2012).

⁵⁷ NRS 233B.130(6).

⁵⁸ McKay v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Douglas Cty., 103 Nev. 490, 492, 746 P.2d 124, 125 (1987).

⁵⁹ See Zenor v. State, Dep't of Transp., 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d 28, 29 (2018).

Legislature chose the opposite pathway, and expressly permitted a court to apply standard civil remedies to State Engineer proceedings. 60 The State Engineer cites to Fowler⁶¹ and Zenor⁶² for authority claiming they hold that the State Engineer's office is not subject to attorneys' fees. However, both of these cases interpret the "exclusive means" language found in NRS 233B.130(6), and neither involve NRS 533.450.63 In Fowler, this Court placed special importance on NRS 233B.130(6)'s language, which provides that the provisions of NRS 233B provide the exclusive remedy in such actions and therefore no attorneys' fees could be awarded.⁶⁴ Similarly, in Zenor, this Court stated "the Legislature expressly stated that the provisions of NRS Chapter 233B 'are the exclusive means of judicial review of, or iudicial action' when courts review agency determinations."65 Accordingly, Fowler and Zenor are completely inapplicable to this case as those cases do not stem from the same branch of law and reasoning.

Second, the Legislature chose to exclude the State Engineer from the provisions of the NRS 233B, and instead crafted a unique process and set of remedies

_

⁶⁰ NRS 533.450(8).

⁶¹ State, Dep't of Human Res., Welfare Div. v. Fowler, 109 Nev. 782, 782, 858 P.2d 375, 375 (1993).

⁶² Zenor, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d 28.

⁶³ Fowler, 109 Nev. at 782, 858 P.2d at 375; Zenor, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d 28.

⁶⁴ Fowler, 109 Nev. 782, 858 P.2d 375.

⁶⁵ Zenor, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 412 P.3d 28.

that apply specifically to the State Engineer.⁶⁶ Thus, the State Engineer is not required to, and in turn does not, abide by the APA.⁶⁷ The State Engineer seeks to have the best of both worlds in which he gets all the benefits of the APA, yet is unburdened by the protections afforded to the public under the APA. The State Engineer correctly notes that this Court has "repeatedly refused to imply provisions not expressly included in the legislative scheme."⁶⁸ Yet that is exactly what the State Engineer is asking this Court to do – presume that the Legislature intended to prohibit awards of attorneys' fees in cases brought under NRS 533.450 even though such an implication is completely untethered to the plain language of the statute.

This Court has already recognized the inherent differences between NRS 233B.130 and NRS 533.450. For example, this Court has held that NRS 233B.130(2)(a)'s requirement to serve notice on parties other than the agency being sued is both mandatory and jurisdictional.⁶⁹ By contrast, this Court has stated that NRS 533.450(3)'s notice provision is not jurisdictional.⁷⁰ The inherent difference in the language of NRS 533.450 and NRS 233B.130 regarding the means of review,

_

⁶⁶ NRS 233B.039(i).

⁶⁷ For example, here, the State Engineer unilaterally "abandoned" St. Clair's water right without warning or a hearing on the issue. Under the APA, due process hearings would be required prior to the taking of a real property right.

⁶⁸ State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Wrenn, 104 Nev. 536, 539, 762 P.2d 884, 886 (1988).

⁶⁹ Washoe County v. Otto, 128 Nev. 424, 432, 282 P.3d 719, 725 (2012) ("to invoke a district court's jurisdiction to consider a petition for judicial review, the petitioner must strictly comply with the APA's procedural requirements.").

⁷⁰ Desert Valley Water Co. v. State, 104 Nev. 718, 720, 766 P.2d 886, 887 (1988).

and available remedies, is also an important distinction between the two statutes. These facts, coupled with the Legislature's intent to have the judiciary "liberally construe the provisions of [NRS 18.010(2)(b)] in favor of awarding attorney's fees in all appropriate situations," makes upholding the district court's award of attorney's fees for the specific and groundless actions of the State Engineer straight forward.

3. Rand demonstrates exactly why the State Engineer is subject to NRS 18.010(2)(b) in this case.

The State Engineer hinges his argument on *Rand*, an unpublished decision that discusses an award of attorneys' fees made pursuant to NRS 533.190(1) and NRS 533.240(3) ⁷². These statutes govern proceedings initiated to adjudicate pre-1905 vested claims and, again, are entirely different than Petitions for Judicial Review brought under NRS 533.450. Indeed, NRS 533.190(1) does not incorporate the rules of civil procedure like NRS 533.450, and the parties in *Rand* did not pursue attorneys' fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b).

Nevertheless, *Rand* supports St. Clair's position. In *Rand*, this Court found the statutes at issue "specifically provide for an award of costs, but under Nevada law, attorney fees are not considered costs." This Court thereby decided that under

⁷¹ NRS 18.010(2)(b).

⁷² Rand Props., LLC, 2016 WL 1619306 at *5.

⁷³ Rand Props., LLC, 2016 WL 1619306 at *6.

NRS 533.190 and NRS 533.240, the district court may award costs, but not fees. Here, the inverse is also true. While NRS 533.450 prohibits costs, it does not prohibit fees. The mention of a prohibition against costs implies the exclusion of any protection against attorney's fees.⁷⁴

E. The district court did not abuse its discretion in considering St. Clair's attorneys' fees motion.

1. <u>Cases interpreting the timeliness of NRS 18.010(2)(a) are inapplicable to NRS 18.010(2)(b) because the two statutes are substantively different.</u>

The State Engineer claims St. Clair's request for attorneys' fees was untimely based on cases interpreting NRS 18.010(2)(a), but the Legislature divided NRS 18.010(2) into two subsections, each with a different purpose and a different test. Generally, under NRS 18.010(2)(a), if a party is awarded less than \$20,000 in a final judgment from the Court, the party may also pursue attorneys' fees. Comparatively, the Legislature, in 2003, stated that the Court should interpret NRS 18.010(2)(b) liberally "because [groundless] claims and defenses overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and providing professional services to the public."

 $^{^{74}}$ Rural Tel. Co., 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 53 at 5, 398 P.3d at 911 (quoting Sonia F., 125 Nev. at 499, 215 P.3d at 708); see Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 170 (2012).

⁷⁵ NRS 18.010(2)(a).

⁷⁶ NRS 18.010(2)(b).

Accordingly, while subsection (a) protects litigants that affirmatively seek righteous cases, subsection (b) protects the judiciary from unrighteous and groundless cases.

In *Collins*, this Court made clear that a core concern when determining the timeliness of a motion for attorneys' fees is unfair prejudice to the non-moving party. In *Collins*, the district court held a bench trial regarding breach of contract, and ultimately issued an award for Murphy for \$5,125. Collins decided not to appeal because "it would cost more [. . .] to pursue even a meritorious appeal." Murphy, after the time to appeal had run, relied upon the underlying order to request attorneys' fees of nearly \$50,000. The Court found that Collins was unfairly prejudiced by Murphy's delay in filing his motion for attorneys' fees because Collins had foregone appealing the \$5,125 judgment, and was therefore unable to challenge the award less than \$20,000 – subjecting him to fees under NRS 18.010(2)(a).81

The State Engineer now cites to *Collins* as authority that any motion made after the time to appeal has run is untimely. *Collins* is obviously distinguishable from the case at bar. First, the district court found that the State Engineer failed to even make a claim of unfair prejudice.⁸² Thus, any argument of prejudice has been

⁷⁷ See Collins v. Murphy, 113 Nev. 1380, 1384, 951 P.2d 598, 600 (1997) (citing Davidsohn v. Steffens, 112 Nev. 136, 911 P.2d 855 (1996)).

⁷⁸ See Collins, 113 Nev. 1380, 951 P.2d 598.

⁷⁹ Collins, 113 Nev. at 1384, 951 P.2d at 601.

⁸⁰ Collins, 113 Nev. at 1384, 951 P.2d at 601.

⁸¹ Collins, 113 Nev. at 1384, 951 P.2d at 601.

⁸² JA 1110:4-5.

waived. Second, even if this Court considers the State Engineer's claim of unfair prejudice, the State Engineer was not unfairly prejudiced by the timing of St. Clair's motion as the State Engineer chose to appeal the district court's order regardless of the attorney's fees motion.

2. The district court did not abuse its discretion in considering and subsequently granting St. Clair's motion.

Nevada law is well-settled that "[a]bsent a specific statutory provision governing the time frame in which a party must request attorney's fees, the timeliness of such requests" is a matter left to the discretion of the trial court. Additionally, it is well known that the "exercise of discretion to reach the merits of [a] motion will not be disturbed on appeal." No specific statutory provision exists in NRS 18.010(2)(b) which provides a deadline for attorneys' fees motions made pursuant to that statute. The State Engineer erroneously claims that NRCP 54 controls the timing of attorneys' fees motions made under NRS 18.010(2)(b). Case law and legal reasoning do not support the State Engineer's position.

0

⁸³ *Bd. of Gallery of History, Inc. v. Datecs Corp.*, 116 Nev. 286, 994 P.2d 1149 (2000) ("[t]here is no time limit specified in NRS 18.010 for application for fees . . ."); *Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Pickering*, 104 Nev. 660, 662, 765 P.2d 181, 182 (1988); *see also White v. N.H. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 455 U.S. 445, 454, 102 S. Ct. 1162, 1167 (1982); *White v. Kaufmann*, 652 P.2d 127, 129 (Ariz. 1982); *see, e.g., Kajioka v. Kajioka*, No. 66560, 2015 WL 8020898 (Nev. Ct. App. 2015); *see, e.g., Barney v. Mt. Rose Heating and Air Conditioning*, No. 53971, 2011 WL 378781 (Nev. 2011). 84 *Eberle v. State ex rel. Nell J. Redfield Trust*, 108 Nev. 587, 590, 836 P.2d 67, 69 (1992).

In Farmers, this Court found that applying deadlines from the NRCP to NRS 18.010(2)(b) attorneys' fee motions was inappropriate.⁸⁵ The State Engineer incorrectly argues that Farmers has been "essentially abrogated" by amendments made to NRCP 54 in 2008.86 Those amendments were made to ensure the unfair prejudice that was demonstrated in Collins for awards given pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(a) are prevented. The State Engineer concedes this fact in his Opening Brief.⁸⁷ As discussed above, *Collins* is inapplicable to NRS 18.010(2)(b), and to this case in particular, as the State Engineer has faced no unfair prejudice. The Collins Court expressed their heightened concern about unfair prejudice, stating that "[t]he trial court's discretionary power to deny fee requests is a sufficient protection against a post-judgment motion [which] unfairly surprises or prejudices the affected party."88 Thus, no strict deadlines are imposed for attorneys' fees motions. Rather, the focus is on whether the timing of the motion unfairly prejudices the non-moving party.

This legal holding was applied in two recent unpublished opinions that demonstrate the holdings are still sound. In the 2011 *Barney v. Mt. Rose Heating & Air Conditioning* case, ⁸⁹ the Court relied on *Farmers* to find that "the district court

-

⁸⁵ Farmers Ins. Exch., 104 Nev. at 662, 765 P.2d at 182.

⁸⁶ Appellant's Opening Br. at 27.

⁸⁷ Appellant's Opening Br. at 28.

⁸⁸ Farmers Ins. Exch., 104 Nev. at 662, 765 P.2d at 182.

⁸⁹ Barney, 127 Nev. 1118, 373 P.3d 894.

did not abuse its discretion by finding Mt. Rose's request for attorney fees to be timely" when the statute did not have a time restriction. Similarly, in the 2015 *Kajioka v. Kajioka* case, this Court found that "the district court did not abuse its discretion in considering [the] motion for costs" though a motion was filed after the deadline imposed by statute. Here, the district court considered the State Engineer's arguments pertaining to timeliness and decided it would consider the motion because NRS18.010(2)(b) does not specifically limit the time frame in which to file such motions. The district court's determination "that it would hear the [attorneys' fees motion] given the facts and circumstances of the case" was sound and should be upheld by this Court based on its applicable legal precedent.

II. The District Court Properly Awarded St. Clair Attorneys' Fees Incurred On Appeal.

A. The district court properly found that the State Engineer's appeal was groundless.

After St. Clair prevailed at the district court, the State Engineer should have reconsidered the grounds for the abandonment claim, realizing that his office had made a mistake. This Court first announced the elements of abandonment that the

⁹⁰ Barney, 127 Nev. 1118, 373 P.3d 894.

⁹¹ Kajioka, 2015 WL 8020898 at *6.

⁹² Kajioka, 2015 WL 8020898 at *6.

⁹³ JA 1110.

State Engineer must prove in 1940.⁹⁴ The critical element of intent to abandon has always been clear. Even after the absence of any evidence of this critical element was pointed out by the district court, the State Engineer continued to pursue an unsupportable claim of abandonment against St. Clair. That decision cost the State Engineer nothing, but cost St. Clair tens of thousands of dollars.⁹⁵

At no time did the State Engineer point to evidence which the district court misconstrued or ignored to support his claim. Instead, the State Engineer continued to claim he did not need to present evidence of intent to abandon. The State Engineer relied on the Ninth Circuit's *Alpine*⁹⁶ case, which interpreted equity rules regarding intrafarm transfers of water rights. The State Engineer previously demonstrated a keen understanding of the application of *Alpine* to intrafarm transfers. ⁹⁷ But in this case, the State Engineer took the language of *Alpine* completely out of context to meet his goal of taking St. Clair's water away. ⁹⁸ The State Engineer's appeal did

⁹⁴ In re Manse Spring and its Tributaries, Nye Cty., 60 Nev. 280, 108 P.2d 311 (1940).

⁹⁵ JA 1077-79.

⁹⁶ United States v. Alpine Land & Reservoir Co., 291 F.3d 1062, 1077 (9th Cir. 2002).

⁹⁷ See JA 435-36.

⁹⁸ See JA 503-08. The "continuous use" language the State Engineer relied on in Ruling 6287 is in the Ninth Circuit's opinion under the section "Equitable Relief for Intrafarm Transfers." *Alpine*, 291 F.3d at 1073-74. In that section, the Ninth Circuit was specifically analyzing whether equitable principles should apply to protect "intrafarm transfers" from abandonment. In an intrafarm transfer, the owners of the water rights mistakenly abandoned the original place of use and resumed use at a new location without a change application. For the equitable solution to apply,

nothing more than cost St. Clair a small fortune, and "clog[] up the courts."⁹⁹ Therefore, the district court's decision to grant St. Clair's motion was not a manifest abuse of discretion and should be upheld by this Court.

Now the State Engineer claims that his appeal was not groundless because this Court stated in dicta that "assuming a prior owner has taken actions consistent with abandonment" the prior owner could potentially have abandoned a water right. 100 That argument is irrational for multiple reasons. First, the parties did not argue the issue of a hypothetical prior owner's intent at the district court. Second, the Court's dicta about a hypothetical prior owner was not "new precedent" as claimed by the State Engineer. 101 Third, even if the Court did create some new standard in abandonment law (which it did not), the State Engineer *still* maintained his abandonment case against St. Clair without reasonable ground. The *St. Clair* Court found that "no [intent to abandon] evidence exists in this record," and there exists no evidence that "St. Clair's predecessor intended to abandon the water right." 102

_

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